Cinnamon Pass Trail

STARTING POINT: Lake City at intersection with Southwest #1: Engineer Pass Trail

FINISHING POINT: Animas Forks

TOTAL MILEAGE: 26.8 miles

UNPAVED MILEAGE: 20.4 miles

DRIVING TIME: 2 hours

ROUTE ELEVATION: 8,932 to 12,620 feet

DIFFICULTY RATING: 3

SCENIC RATING: 9

Special Attractions:

•Animas Forks ghost town.

•Part of the Alpine Loop, with many his​toric mining towns.

•Moderately easy 4WD trail opened by snowplow early in the season.

•Wonderful, varied scenery.

History:

The Ute used this pass road before white exploration of the area. Then, in the early 1860s, Charles Baker used the pass on his journey into the San Juans when he reported finding gold, triggering a minor gold rush.  In 1873, Albert Burrows further explored the area; and in the following year, the Hayden Survey party crossed the pass.  In the mid-1870s, Washington bureau​crats came to the conclusion that because the pass was not on the Continental Divide, the mail service should be able to cross it all year long; they awarded a contract on just that basis, despite the impossibility of the task.

In 1877, Enos Hotchkiss constructed the first wagon road over the pass. It was an important freight road for a period but was not maintained after the ore in the area declined.  The route starts at the still active town of Lake City. It was established following the discovery of the Golden Fleece Mine in 1874, originally named the Hotchkiss Mine, which became the best producer in the area although many other strikes followed.  In 1875, Lake City, named for nearby Lake San Cristobal, was registered and stagecoaches began making three trips a week to Saguache. That same year, Harry

M. Woods published Lake City’s first newspaper, the Silver World. The post office opened when the stagecoach service was extended to include a mail stage to Del Norte.

Lake City was one of the first towns in Colorado to have telephone service. In 1876, Western Union initiated telephone service and by 1881, service had been extended to Silverton, Ouray, Capitol City, Rose’s Cabin, Mineral Point, and Animas Forks. Musicians utilized the telephone service to perform popular telephone con​certs for listeners along the various lines!  At its high point, Lake City had around 2,500 residents. Since the town was platted at the junction of two toll roads—Saguache to Silverton and Antelope Springs to Lake City—hundreds of people passed through the community each week. Stagecoaches continued to stop in the city daily. The Denver & Rio Grande Railroad arrived in 1889. There were two trains daily in the 1890s, and ore shipments left regularly.

The wild red-light district on the west of town was known as Hell’s Acres. Gambling dens and dance halls were interspersed among the many brothels. Lake City had its rough side: many of its residents were killed in mine accidents, snowslides, and shoot-outs.

Lake City experienced a series of eco​nomic fluctuations. It suffered greatly after the silver crash of 1893 and went into a into a long decline, relieved only by subsequent gold and lead production. After the turn of the century Lake City  was on the decline; but camping, fishing, and hunting helped revive it as a summer community. In 1933, the railroad tracks re sold for scrap. Lake City never became a ghost town, although its population dwindled and it is currently a sleepy little community. Many buildings were made of stone and still survive. The large stone schoolhouse was built in 1882. The courthouse where Alferd Packer was tried was built in 1877 and is still used.

From Lake City; the paved road extends past Lake San Cristobal, which was initially formed in about A.D. 1270 by the Slumgu​llion Slide, a huge mud and rockslide. A second major slide about 350 years ago completed the formation of Lake San Cristobal and created the second largest nat​al lake in Colorado.  The route passes the turnoff to the town site of Sherman, which was founded in 1877 and named for an early pioneer. The town grew slowly at first, then expanded quickly in the 1880s. Although several mines in the area yielded large amounts of gold, silver, copper, and lead, the principal mine was the Black Wonder. Located on the north side of town, the Black Wonder pro​duced primarily silver. Sherman’s popula​tion and prosperity fluctuated with the for​tunes of the Black Wonder Mine, which continued to produce into the turn of the century. Most of the mine’s ore was trans​ported to smelters in Lake City. Sherman peaked in the mid-1880s, when the summer population reached about three hundred.

Sherman was a convenient stagecoach stop since it was located halfway between Animas Forks and Lake City To travel on the toll road between Sherman and Lake City cost $2.50 and between Sherman and Animas Forks cost $2.00 in either direction. Around 1900, a 150-foot dam was con​structed upstream of Sherman, but only a few days after the dam’s completion, runoff from torrential rains flooded the mountain​side, ripped the dam to pieces, and swept away much of the town of Sherman. The sil​ver crash three years later ended Sherman’s hopes for recovery; although the town was not completely deserted until the 1 920s.  A cluster of mining camps sprouted up in the alpine meadow of Burrows Park between 1877 and 1880. The park was five miles long and a half-mile wide. The exact loca​tions of the camps are disputed, but the gen​eral area is about ten miles southwest of Lake City, at the western end of the valley.

Burrows Park was the name of one of the camps, founded in 1877. About a mile south of Burrows Park, there was a commu​nity named Tellurium. This very small camp had only about a dozen people, who hoped to find tellurium there. The highly opti​mistic group built an expensive mill. Unfortunately, Tellurium never became prosperous, and it soon was deserted. Sterling was located a short distance beyond Tellurium, toward Animas Forks. Nearer the Continental Divide toward Cinnamon Pass, Whitecross was the largest of the settlements and served as the center of activity for the other camps. Whitecross’s post office, estab​lished in 1880, was first called Burrows Park, after the region. Two years later it was renamed Whitecross.

Many men who lived in this area worked at the Tabasco Mine and Mill, which oper​ated from 1901 to 1904 and was one of the first to use electric alternating current. Tabasco, the Louisiana hot sauce manufac​turing company, owned both the mine and the mill. Ruins of the mine are scattered around the summit of Cinnamon Pass.

Description:

Today Cinnamon Pass Trail is a seasonal, moderately easy 4WD road. It is part of the historic and majestic Alpine Loop. The other half of the loop is Engineer Pass 4WD Trail (Southwest #1). These two roads form the backbone of a network of roads throughout the region. Cinnamon Pass Trail is the easier of the two, but in the peak summer months both are extremely popular 4WD routes.  The scenery varies from the rugged alpine environment of year-round snow and barren talus slopes near the summit to the wildflower-covered valleys and rushing streams draining the melting snow. At either end of the route are wonderful, historic towns, one a ghost town, the other very much alive.

Initially, the gravel road is an easy, main​tained road. After entering the Gunnison National Forest, the road is intersected by the road to Wager Gulch on the left. This road (Southwest #4) goes to the ghost town of Carson and continues over the Continental Divide.

Three miles further along County 30 is the intersection with County 35—a short side road leading to the site of Sherman. While the remains of the town are clearly vis​ible, the forest has reclaimed the entire area.  After the Sherman turnoff, the road nar​rows into a shelf road overlooking the canyon. However, it remains comfortably wide even for full-sized 4WD vehicles, with a sufficient number of pull-offs available to facilitate passing.

A short distance further, the road enters Burrows Park Basin—the region of Whitecross, Burrows Park, Tellurium, and Sterling townships. The road passes the two remain​ing buildings of Burrows Park (and a new public toilet).

About three and one-half miles further, after passing the turnoff to the American Basin, which is renowned for its spring wild​flowers, the road becomes more difficult as it ascends above timberline into alpine tun​dra vegetation and offers expansive views. From the summit of Cinnamon Pass, the road descends into the picturesque ghost town of Animas Forks, which has numerous buildings remaining.

